IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 72,785

)

)

)

)



LEONARD LEE SMALLEY,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR SUMTER COUNTY FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

LARRY B. HENDERSON ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER 112-A Orange Avenue Daytona Beach, Florida 32014 904-252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The state indicted Leonard Lee Smalley, Jr., for firstdegree murder (R1) $\frac{1}{}$. The matter proceeded to a jury trial in the Circuit Court for Sumter County, the Honorable John W. Booth presiding. Prior to trial the state, at the direction of the court, disclosed that only two aggravating circumstances would be relied on in seeking the death penalty, to wit: 1. An especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel murder, and; 2. A homicide committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification) (R117). Smalley testified in his own behalf and contended that he did not intentionally harm the victim (R766-805). The jury found Smalley guilty of first-degree murder without specifying the basis for the verdict (R160, 924-925).

1/ (R) refers to the record on appeal in the instant case.

- 1 -

Smalley was adjudicated guilty of first-degree murder (R161-162,925). Defense counsel then sought to have the jury polled as to whether their verdict had been based on a theory of premeditated or felony murder. The court denied that request, ruling that the state had waived as an aggravating circumstance the contention that the murder occurred during the commission of an enumerated felony by failing to specify that statutory aggravating circumstance prior to trial when responding to the previous court order requiring the State to list the applicable aggravating factors:

> The Court: . . . If the state had indicated that it might be going on grounds for, aggravated circumstances or as set forth in the instruction book, then that might be additional reasons which states that, the crime for which the defendant is to be sentenced was committed while he was engaged or an accomplice . . . then it goes and lists the certain offenses, but this is not . . . the state has indicated that is not, and it is the court's ruling in denying your motion [to poll the jury] that the state would be prohibited from going on four, but they have indicated that they are not going to. So that is an additional reason for denying the polling, because if they were going to attempt to come in under four, I think you would have a legitimate reason.

(R930-931).

The penalty phase occurred the following day. The state presented no additional evidence and relied on the evidence and testimony presented during the guilt phase (R934). The defense presented the testimony of several psychologists, psychiatrists, relatives of Mr. Smalley, and a previous co-worker

- 2 -

(R935-1037). The jury, by a majority of ten-two, recommended that a sentence of death be imposed (R164,1065).

Sentencing occurred the following week. Judge Booth found an especially heinous, atrocious or cruel murder to have been proved beyond a reasonable doubt. Judge Booth also found; Smalley had no significant history of prior criminal activity; Smalley committed the crime while under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance; Smalley acted under extreme duress or under the substantial domination of another person; Smalley's capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of law was substantially impaired; Smalley was himself an abused child; Smalley has expressed substantial and genuine remorse at the time of the offense and constantly thereafter; and, Smalley was a good employee and co-workers thought very highly of him (R165-170, see Appendix A). Judge Booth found that the one aggravating factor outweighed all the mitigating circumstances and imposed a sentence of death in accordance with the jury recommendation (R172,1072). A notice of appeal was filed (R187,194) and the Office of the Public Defender was appointed to represent Mr. Smalley for the purpose of his appeal (R175,197-198). This brief follows.

- 3 -

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

There is a high corollary between child abuse and people who were themselves abused children (R955). Leonard Smalley (hereafter Smalley, "Lee" or "Buddy") was born January 15, 1960 (R2). His father, who left when Smalley was two years old, was described by Smalley's mother as an irresponsible person suffering from battle fatigue resulting from being in the Navy during World War II (R1019-20). Smalley's first step-father physically and mentally abused Smalley (R1020-21). "For instance if something happened, he would beat Buddy and beat the others with a cutting board, one of these one inch ones with a handle on it. He beat me. He beat us with belts. He beat us with a hose. He beat us with ropes." (R1021). Smalley's second step-father was an alcoholic, and his relationship with Buddy vacillated between being very kind and loving to being abusive; if the step-father needed a drink, he would become abusive (R1028). The abuse ranged from kicking to name calling (R1028). Smalley often took the blame for his younger sister so that she would escape such punishment (R1011-13).

Smalley joined the Navy to get away from home but received a bad conduct discharge due to marijuana usage and being AWOL (R956-57). He thereafter moved in with Cecelia Cook, a twenty-four year old woman with three children; Kimberly (7), Chris (4), and Julie (2) (R577-78). Cecelia was at that time separated from her husband and, prior to October 23, 1987, had known Smalley for approximately six months (R579). Smalley's

- 4 -

mother described the relationship between Cecelia and Smalley as follows:

First off, let me say, I don't hate Cecelia, because she has got problems, and I know it too. But she was very dominating, very domineering, and it was constantly "Buddy come do this" . . . or "Lee", I believe she called him . . . "change that baby's diaper". "Lee, wash his face", - talking about Chris. It was just constantly on him. Buddy would call me, begging me to babysit with Julie, because the day care would not take care of her because she was sick. He would call me and beg me to take care of her, and I could hear, when I would tell him "I've got my own job to do", -and in all honesty, I thought that if he got tired of the situation enough, he would just get out of it. But I would hear her screaming and cursing in the background, and saying "they don't want to take care of my -- blankety blank kids, just hang up the phone". And he would say "Mom, please, I'm about to lose my job." And I really felt like that if I didn't, then he would get tired of the situation and he would I know he loved those children, leave. and Buddy was always trying to fix up a family atmosphere. He always wanted everything, since he was a little kid, he wanted everything beautiful.

(R1029-30). Smalley's mother stated that Smalley worshipped Cecelia and acted like a robot, acting on command doing whatever she wanted (R1030). Smalley worked as a lab technician with Vision Express for a little over two months (R1035), and was described as a good employee; a friendly, non-violent, very mild mannered and friendly person (R1037). His employer stated that Cecelia ocassionally during that two month period would come into the store, "and I would be out in the front waiting on a patient,

- 5 -

and she would get to yelling at him and get so loud that it would even disturb my patients and they would ask me what was going on, and one time I did even have to go back and pull the door to a little." (R1036). The employer testified that Smalley never talked back or raised his voice to Cecelia but just sat there and took it (R1036). Smalley lost that job because he continually called in sick to stay home and care for the children (R1035-36).

On Monday, October 19, 1987, Smalley stayed home from work and took two year old Julie to the doctor's office; they were there all day.

> Cecelia Cook: He kept her on Monday, -well no, he had her Monday, but they spent the day at the doctor's office. It was crowded, and they had to wait, and from what he told me, they just barely --I got off work at six o'clock, they were late picking me up from work. The pediatrician diagnosed Julie as having some kind of flu or upper respiratory type of thing, and prescribed medication.

(R580) $\frac{2}{}$ When Smalley called in that Monday to explain to his employer that he would be absent "his boss was very upset with him, and told him that he no longer had a job[.]" (R587). On Tuesday, Cecelia was off work and she cared for Julie (R588). Thereafter, Smalley cared for the children on Wednesday, Thursday and Friday (R588).

²When performing the autopsy, the medical examiner found that the flu-like symptoms were caused by food particles aspirated into her lungs (R644).

At approximately 8:30 a.m. on Friday, October 23, 1987, Smalley drove the family to a chiropractor's office and dropped Cecelia off for her "adjustment" while he took Kim and Chris to school (R579-581). He then returned with Julie to pick Cecelia up at the chiropractor's; they had breakfast at Hardees (R581). After leaving Hardees, they still had some time before Cecelia had to report to work at Shoe World so they stopped on the side of a secluded road and made love (R582). When asked about Julie, Cecelia stated, "she had fallen asleep, but she didn't sleep good at night because of the cough that she had. It was constantly, what, you know, waking her up. She seemed fine, otherwise." (R582). Smalley dropped Cecelia off at work by 11:00 (R582).

Around 1:00, Smalley called Cecelia to tell her that he had a job interview with a construction company.

Cecelia: He told me that he had a job interview with Rix Construction, and he was happy about that, because it was driving a dump truck, something that he had did previously in Lakeland, and I asked him, I said "well, you said you were going to bring me something to eat before you went home", and he said "well, I got busy and had to make phone calls", and so on and so forth, and I said "well, I have a banana, that will last me for a little while, but you need to get me something to eat when you come up for your job interview". He said "o.k.". He said "I love you" and I said "I love you", and that was basically the end of the conversation.

(R583). Shoe World is located in a shopping plaza containing such businesses as Wal Mart, Dan's City Ice Cream Parlor, and Cedar River Restaurant (R606). Shoe World is approximately 35 miles from Smalley's home (R602).

- 7 -

Smalley came by Shoe World just before 3 o'clock on his way to the job interview; Julie was with him at that time and appeared to be fine. She sat up in the front seat and waved to Cecelia (R586). Cecelia asked Smalley why he hadn't brought her anything to eat and he replied, "I didn't have time". (R586).

Smalley called Cecelia around 4:30 o'clock p.m. to get the telephone number for ITT Financial Services (R588). A loan payment was due, and Cecelia had written some bad checks making it impossible for them to make the payment. Smalley wanted to call the loan officer (Mr. Locke) and explain to him why the payment was going to be late. Cecelia testified:

> He called to ask me if I had the number to . . . someone that we had a loan with, works for ITT Financial Service, and at that time, I was beginning to feel weak, and I had even called my mother previous to that and told her that Lee had not brought me anything to eat, and that if he wasn't there by 5 o'clock, could she bring me something to eat, and she was about six miles away from where I worked. She was willing to bring me something to eat if he didn't show up, and he finally came. The conversation was -- "Lee, why haven't you brought me anything to eat?" -- "You know I can't be without it".³ "Well, I'm sorry, I've just been busy and" -da-da-da-da . . . and I said "well, I feel like I'm going to pass out here at work and you know I can't be without it", and he said "well, I will be there as soon as I can", and I said "O.k." and we hung up and that was the end of the conversation.

(R588-589).

3/ Cecelia claims to be a hypoglycymic (R581).

Smalley returned to Shoe World at approximately 5:00; Julie was not with him (R589). Smalley told Cecelia that Julie had been asleep and he had left her at their house with a neighbor supervising (R589). Cecelia and Smalley went to Playland and picked up Kimberly and Chris, went and got something for Cecelia to eat, dropped Cecelia off at Shoe World at approximately 5:40, and then Smalley returned home with the two children (R589-591). Cecelia received a call around 7 o'clock telling her that something had happened to Julie, and by the time she arrived at the hospital at 7:30 she was told that Julie had passed away (R592). SMALLEY'S STATEMENTS AND TRIAL TESTIMONY:

Smalley's statements and trial testimony establish that he struck Julie after dropping Cecelia off at the chiropractor's on the morning of October 23 when she began crying and whining for her mother. "And, I left from there and went back to the chiropractor's office. But, while I was gone and while I was going back to the chiropractor's office, Julie was whining for her mommy and I hit her a few times to make her hush." (R736,768). After dropping Cecelia off at Shoe World, Smalley took Julie over to Wal Mart and put her on the riding horses when he tried to call Mr. Locke, the loan officer with ITT Financial Services, and Julie continued crying (R736-737):

> I was supposed to call Buck Locke, because Cecelia had wrote a bunch of bad checks, and I knew that we weren't going to have the money to pay for the loan that we had through ITT Financial Services, so she left it up to me to call Buck Locke and make up another excuse for not being able to pay the

> > - 9 -

bill. So, I went and tried to call, and he wasn't in, and while I was sitting, I was going to wait and try again later, and while I was sitting there, Julie was still crying, and I think I smacked her again on the arm, or the back, or something. So then she would hush. Then I tried calling again, and he still wasn't there, so I decided that I would try later. So, I left from there, and I went right on up to the Cedar River Seafood Place, which is in the same plaza, and bought a paper so I could look through the paper, and I took that paper home with me. Me and Julie went home.

(R770-771). Smalley indicated that when they got in the car, he struck Julie when she would not be quiet and again when they got home because she again started whining; he kept saying, "Julie, just hush", but she would not stop crying; he struck her (R737). When she would not stop crying he took her outside and dipped her in a blue barrel previously emptied and cleaned in order to wash dirty bed linen and dirty clothes soiled by Julie's diarrhea and vomit (R773):

> I can't remember. I think I hit her on the arm a couple of times. I may have smacked her in the face and she wouldn't hush. Well, the house was a wreck, it had been in a wreck for sometime, and I just wanted some peace and quiet. Τ turned the stereo on but it seemed like Julie was trying to outcry the stereo. So we had this blue barrel out beside the little shed, out there by the house, and it had old dirty water in it and I drained all the dirty water in it and there was some broken glass and stuff in the bottom of it, and I poured all of that out, and I rinsed it out and I set it out behind the house and filled it up with water and when I filled it up with water, I came back inside and Julie was still whining, so I grabbed her by her feet and took her out back and I kept

dunking her down in the blue barrel and I would pull her back up and tell her to hush and she would be crying and gasping and I would stick her back down in the water again, and I don't know how many times I did it, but one time when I pulled her up she was, acted like she was about unconscious and I thought she was going to drown so I stopped. Ι didn't want to hurt her. I just wanted her to hush, and I took her back in the house and I took the diaper off of her cause it was soaked and I threw it in the garbage and she was coughing up water and she was crying and I kept telling her to hush, and she wouldn't, so I started socking her in the stomach and everytime I would hit her, water would come out.

(R737-38). When asked how many times he struck her, Smalley replied, "I don't know, I, two or three times, I don't know and she wouldn't stop whining, and I just wanted her to stop, all I wanted her to do was be quiet so I could think about myself and my, my problems for a while[.]" (R738).

Smalley then called the construction company and arranged for an interview that afternoon. The whole time he was on the phone, however, Julie kept crying (R738). The phone calls were made from a neighbor's residence because Buddy and Cecelia had no phone. When he returned home from the neighbors', he began cleaning up the house:

> And, then I went back to the house, and the place was a wreck. I was so tired of seeing it dirty with food and clothes and everything scattered everywhere and I was going to start in the kitchen. So I went and put dishwater in the kitchen sink and I was putting dishes in it and Julie started her whining again, and I said "Julie, shut up, please just shut up" and she wouldn't stop and she kept on and she kept on, and I had my dishwater in

> > - 11 -

the sink so I went in there and I got her and I stuck her head down in the dishwater and I pulled her up and I said "shut up" and she was still crying and I did it again and I did that three or four times until she just, was coughing up water and she wasn't crying at all. And, after I had done that I laid her in the living room floor on top of a blanket because she had sucked in so much water and stuff that she was pooping liquid and water was coming out of her nose and everything else, and she was just laying on that blanket. Oh God, everything just seems so foggy.

(R739). This occurred around 2:30 p.m. (R739). Smalley changed Julie's diaper and took her with him to Rix Construction to fill out the application and be interviewed, a process that took about 5 minutes (R 575). On the way home Julie whined again and, when Smalley smacked her in the back of the head, she fell forward in the seat and just layed there and hushed and went to sleep (R730). They arrived home around 4:30 (R493). When walking back to the house, Julie fell face first in the dirt. Smalley picked her up, asked her if she was o.k., and wiped the dirt from her face and mouth (R740). He asked to use the neighbor's telephone to call Mr. Locke at ITT Financial Services, and after getting that straightened out called Cecelia; Julie urinated in her pants while in the neighbor's house and was taken outside by the neighbor (R740-41).

> [A]nd then I called, I started talking to Cecelia, cause I was dialing the number and she was jumping all over me and telling me I should have been there and that you know, she was hungry and she didn't even seem to care that I might have had a job --- I, well, I wasn't mad at her, I just resented her.

> > - 12 -

It just seemed like everything was good for her, but nothing I wanted to do or what I tried to do seemed any good and I resented it and it was always "no, my things were more important", you know . . . "you stay home and watch the kids", and "you do this", or "you change their diaper", or her diaper, so, I went back over to the house, and Julie started crying again, and that's when I stuck her in the tub, and I held her under the water under the faucet, and I, I didn't run any water in the tub, I just held her head under the faucet and I would hold her there until she acted like she was gasping for breath, and then I would pull her out and say "hush", and she wouldn't, and then I would stick her back under there again and finially she just started spewing up the water again and I went to take out of the tub, and when I took her out of the tub, I held her by her feet and I hit her head on the carpet two or three times.

(R741-42,775). Just prior to this Smalley smoked some marajuana, "just to ease my mind, because I felt like I was going crazy." (R775). After being dropped on the carpeted floor, Julie started shaking and moaning. Smalley realized he might have seriously hurt her and became scared (R742,777). Hoping she would recover, he wrapped her in a blanket and placed her on the bed, covering her with the bedsheet so she would not be seen, and took Cecelia the food she kept demanding (R742,777). When he returned and Julie would not wake up, he administered CPR (R509, 742-43,777-78). When he got no response he screamed for help until the neighbors came (R743-44,779-80). Julie died from blunt trauma which caused internal bleeding in the skull and swelling of the brain which ultimately cut off the vital functions (R642-43). Smalley was adamant that he never intended to hurt Julie; he only wanted her to hush, to be quiet (R736,737,745,748,756,770,774,776,780).

- 13 -

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

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