IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDE

LEONARD LEE SMALLEY,

Appellant,

JAN 30 1989

SID J. WHITE

CLERK, SUPKEME COURT 7 95Puty Clerk

CASE NO.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

v.

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR SUMTER COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

COLIN CAMPBELL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL 125 N. Ridgewood Ave. Fourth Floor Daytona Beach, FL 32014 (904) 252-1067

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

It was established beyond and to the exclusion of every reasonable doubt that Defendant Smalley tortured, beat and punished the victim, Julie Anne Cook, for approximately eight hours, in an especially heinous, atrocious and cruel manner.

The above findings were not rebutted by Smalley, (see Exhibit #27) and were corroborated by the testimony of Michael E. Hord, Cecelia Cook, Lt. William O. Farmer, Dr. William Shutze and the Defendant, Leonard Lee Smalley, Jr., who testified as to the torture inflicted upon Julie Anne Cook by him, in support of the aggravating circumstance of being especially heinous, atrocious or cruel. (R 166-168).

The importance of the jury's role in a capital sentencing scheme was pointed out in <u>Cooper v. State</u>, 336 So.2d 1133, 1140 (Fla. 1976), cert. denied, 431 U.S. 925 (1977) as:

> The Legislature intended that the trial judge determine the sentence with advice and guidance provided by a jury, the one institution in the Anglo-American system of jurisprudence most honored for fair determinations of questions decided by balancing opposing factors. If the advisory function were to be limited initially because the jury could only consider those mitigating and aggravating circumstances which the trial judge decided to be appropriate in a particular case, statutory scheme the would be distorted.

"The jury must be instructed either by the applicable standard jury instructions or by specifically formulated instructions, that their role is to make a recommendation based on the circumstances of the offense and the character and background of the defendant." <u>Floyd v. State</u>, 497 So.2d 1211, 1215 (Fla. 1986).

jury's recommendation that this especially heinous, The atrocious and cruel crime committed on a child warranted the penalty was upon complete and proper death based jury instructions concerning the seriousness with which the jury should attach to its recommendation (R 1059). They were instructed that the single aggravating circumstance of especially heinous, atrocious or cruel "must be established beyond a reasonable doubt before it may be considered by you in arriving at your decision" (R 1060).

On the other hand, the court instructed the jury that "a mitigating circumstance need not be proved beyond a reasonable doubt by the defendant" and that "if you are reasonably convinced that a mitigating circumstance exists, you may consider it as established" (R 1060). The jury was also instructed that it should "weigh the aggravating circumstances against the mitigating circumstances and your advisory sentence should be Notwithstanding based on these considerations" (R 1061). numerous defense witnesses called during the penalty phase concerning Smalley's character, the jury by its 10 - 2recommendation of death obviously concluded that the extreme aggravating circumstance of this crime outweighed the marginal mitigating circumstances and warranted the death penalty.

The mitigating circumstances set forth in the trial court's findings in support of death sentence were:

1. The Defendant has no significant history of prior criminal activity.

- 27 -

2. The crime for which the Defendant is to be sentenced was committed while he was under the influence of extreme mental and emotional disturbance.

3. The Defendant acted under extreme duress or under the substantial domination of another person.

4. The capacity of the Defendant to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of law was substantially impaired.

5. Any other aspect of the Defendant's character or record, and any other circumstance of the offense. (aspects of the defendant's character found by the trial court to support this mitigating circumstance were: a) the defendant himself was an abused child, b) the defendant expressed substantial remorse at the time of the offense and constantly since, and c) the defendant was a good employee and co-workers thought very highly of him).

(R 169, 170).

The fact that the mitigating circumstances out-number the aggravating circumstances does not render the death sentence invalid, in that the sentencing statute requires a weighing rather than a mere counting of factors in aggravation and mitigation. Jackson v. State, 489 So.2d 406, 411 (Fla. 1986); State v. Dixon, 283 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973), cert. denied, 416 U.S. 943, (1974); see also, Hargrave v. State, 366 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1978), cert. denied, 444 U.S. 919 (1979).

- 28 -

Smalley's argument that the death sentence is excessive here because of the mitigating factors cannot be sustained where the facts and circumstances supporting the aggravating circumstance are weighed against the mitigating circumstances, which, although greater in number, are uncompelling. The trial court has the duty to determine whether a mitigating circumstance has been proven and how much weight it should carry in the sentencing decision. <u>Smith v. State</u>, 404 So.2d 894 (Fla. 1981), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 456 U.S. 984 (1982). The overwhelming aggravating circumstance in this case clearly overwhelms the marginally mitigating circumstances.

Smalley also argues that the very "fact that this is a felony murder, as opposed to a premeditated murder, is itself mitigating". (Initial Brief of Appellant, p.25) Smalley's insinuation that this is a felony murder is a mere assumption on This is because the jury found Smalley guilty of his part. first-degree murder without specifying the basis for the verdict (R 160, 924-925). Further, felony murder and premeditated murder are not mutually exclusive. Garcia v. State, 492 So.2d 360, 366 (Fla. 1986). As the evidence in this case demonstrates, it is entirely possible to plan or premeditate both child abuse and murder. This is particularly true where, as here, the crime(s) lasted almost an entire day.

"The killing of a child is especially despicable". <u>Wasko v.</u> <u>State</u>, 505 So.2d 1314, 1318 (Fla. 1987). At the time of the crime Smalley was a twenty-seven year old adult (R 2). The fact that the child victim was tortured for almost an entire day, much

- 29 -

of the worst torment occurring in her own home, in a manner set forth in the trial court's specific written findings of fact, can be characterized as one of the most aggravated of serious crimes suffered by a single individual. It is difficult to conceive of any mitigating circumstances which could offset this heinous, atrocious and cruel murder. For this reason the death penalty is not excessive punishment in this case and is proportionally In State v. Dixon, 283 So.2d 1, 9 (Fla. 1973), appropriate. cert. denied, sub. nom., 416 U.S. 943 (1974), upholding Florida's amended capital punishment statute, this court stated that "[t]he Legislature has chosen to reserve its application to only the most aggravated and unmitigated of most serious crimes." The murder of this child under the facts and circumstances of this case is one of the most atrocious of crimes possible.

For the reasons expressed, concerning the atrocity of the murder, and comparing the sentence of death in this case with previous cases, there is no basis for reversal of the appellant's death sentence. <u>See</u>, <u>Arango v. State</u>, 411 So.2d 172, (Fla. 1982), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 457 U.S. 1140 (1982).

THE JURY RECOMMENDATION IS RELIABLE

Smalley again argues as set forth in Point I, that the "jury was not provided sufficient guidance to apply the statutory aggravating factor of an especially heinous, atrocious or cruel murder". This argument is without merit. <u>Proffitt</u>, <u>supra</u>. This issue having been addressed fully under Point I and previously under this point will not be addressed further by the appellee.

- 30 -

Smalley next maintains that the standard jury instructions given during the sentencing phase (R 934, 1058-1062) violate the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution "by informing the jury that the mitigating circumstances must 'out weigh' the aggravating circumstances". In this respect he argues that the weighing process is distorted under the Eighth Amendment and the burden of persuasion is then shifted to the defendant in violation of the Sixth and Fourteenth Since the appellant did not object to the standard Amendment. instructions given, he has waived this objection for appellate review. Bottoson v. State, 443 So.2d 962 (Fla. 1983), cert. 469 U.S. 873 (1984); Demps v. State, 395 So.2d 501 (Fla. denied, 1981), cert. denied, 454 U.S. 933 (1981).

Notwithstanding Smalley's failure to object, his argument that the instructions given to the jury impermissibly allocated the constitutionally prescribed burden of proof is without merit. This issue has previously been addressed by this court in <u>Arango</u>, <u>supra</u>, where the court stated:

> A careful reading of the transcript, however, reveals that the burden of proof never shifted. The jury was first told that the state must establish the existence of one or more aggravating circumstances before the death penalty could be imposed. Then they were instructed that such a sentence could only be aiven if the state showed the aggravating circumstances outmitigating weighed the circumstances. These standard jury instructions taken as a whole show reversible that no error was committed.

<u>Id</u>. at 174.

In <u>Kennedy v. State</u>, 455 So.2d 351, 354 (Fla. 1984) this court held that during the penalty phase of prosecution for first-degree murder the standard jury instructions were properly given. In the present case, the standard instructions were also given.

jury in this case was told that they should consider The there were sufficient aggravating circumstances whether to justify imposition of the death penalty, and whether sufficient mitigating circumstances existed to outweigh the aggravating circumstances (R 934, 1058, 1059). After being advised that the potentially aggravating circumstance was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel, the jury was instructed that if they found it did not justify the death penalty, "your advisory sentence should be one of life imprisonment without possibility of parole for twenty-five years" (R 1059). They were told that the appravating circumstance had to be established beyond a reasonable doubt. If the aggravating circumstance was found, they should consider all of the evidence tending to establish one or more mitigating circumstances, which did not need to be proven beyond a reasonable doubt. They were also told to give such evidence such weight as they felt it deserved in reaching their conclusion as to an appropriate sentence (R 1059, 1060). The jury was finally told that they should weigh the aggravating circumstances against the mitigating, and that their advisory sentence should be based upon those considerations (R 1061).

- 32 -

While the jury instructions did include a direction that the jury consider whether the mitigating circumstances outweigh those in appravation, it is clear that such provision cannot be considered in isolation; the instruction must be considered as a whole, and the focus must be upon the manner in which a reasonable juror could have interpreted the instructions. See, Francis v. Franklin, 471 U.S. 307, 105 S.Ct. 1965, 85 L.Ed.2d 344 (1985); <u>California v. Brown</u>, _____ U.S. ____, 107 S.Ct. 837, 93 L.Ed.2d 809 (1987). It cannot be said that the jurors hearing the instruction would have failed to understand the meaning and function of mitigating circumstances, cf. Peak v. Kemp, 784 F.2d 1479 (11th Cir. 1986); Zant v. Stevens, 462 U.S. 862, 103 S.Ct. 2733, 77 L.Ed.2d 235 (1983), or what the appropriate burden of A reasonable juror would quite clearly have proof was. understood that in the absence of any finding in aggravation, a sentence of life imprisonment was to be recommended; if nothing was found in aggravation, there would be nothing to weigh the mitigating circumstances against. It cannot be said that any error in these instructions deprived Smalley of due process at sentencing. See, Henderson v. Kibbe, 431 U.S. 145, 97 S.Ct. 1730, 52 L.Ed.2d 203 (1977), Adams v. Wainwright, 764 F.2d 1356 (11th Cir. 1986).

It must also be noted that in <u>Rose v. Clark</u>, _____U.S. ____, 106 S.Ct. 3101, 92 L.Ed.2d 460 (1986), the United States Supreme Court expressly held that the harmless error doctrine should be applied to an error involving a "burden-shifting" jury instruction, which, in such case, had apparently shifted the burden onto the defense to demonstrate that the homicide at issue had not been malicious. The Court noted that, even assuming that the instruction had violated <u>Sandstrom v. Montana</u>, 442 U.S. 510, 99 S.Ct. 2450, 61 L.Ed.2d 39 (1979), and <u>Francis</u>, <u>supra</u>, any error therein could still be deemed harmless, in that such error would not have been "basic to a fair trial". The Court found that even if the presumption was incorrect, before the jury would have reached the point where it would have applied such presumption, they would have already had to have found the predicate facts sufficient to establish guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>Clark</u> is of value here for a number of reasons.

Clark obviously stands for the proposition that the giving of a "burden-shifting" jury instruction can be harmless error. The Court's analysis, as far as the "finding of predicate facts" is concerned, is also relevant. In Florida's capital sentencing structure, the finding of at least one aggravating circumstance is obviously a "predicate" for any eventual sentence of death. The jury instruction in this case adequately advised the jury that a determination of an aggravating factor was their first step. Further, should such search prove fruitless, life was to be the recommended sentence. Accordingly, as in Clark, by the time that any allegedly "erroneous" burden-shifting instruction was given, the jury would already have had to have found, at least one statutory aggravating circumstance. As in Clark, Smalley was fully provided the opportunity to present all evidence in support of his proposition, i.e., that a life sentence was appropriate, and the jury was properly instructed as

to the weighing of aggravating and mitigating circumstances and the role and function of mitigating circumstances in capital sentencing.

In view of the foregoing analysis concerning the jury instructions given during the penalty phase and the evidence presented by both the state and Smalley during the penalty phase, if there was any error in the jury instructions it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt as required by <u>State v. DiGuilio</u>, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986).

Smalley also argues that Booth v. Maryland, ____ U.S. ____, 107 S.Ct. 2529, 96 L.Ed.2d 440 (1987), mandates relief. In this respect he arques that the jury's recommendation was unconstitutionally tainted by improper prosecutorial argument concerning victim impact. However, because Smalley did not object to the prosecutor's argument, he cannot prevail on this issue. Grossman v. State, 525 So.2d 833 (Fla. 1988); Daughtery v. State, 13 F.L.W. 638 (Fla. November 4, 1988). Moreover, a careful review of the prosecutor's argument during the penalty (R 1039-1050) contains no reference to victim impact phase evidence. During the penalty phase focus must be on the accused as а "uniquely individual human being". Woodson v. North Carolina, 428 U.S. 280, 304, 96 S.Ct. 2978, 2990, 49 L.Ed.2d 944 (1976).Booth holds that the Eighth Amendment prohibits a capital sentencing jury from considering victim impact evidence. 107 S.Ct. at 2532. The penalty phase in the instant case focused primarily on mitigating evidence presented by Smalley. The appellant has made no reference to any victim impact evidence presented during the penalty phase of the trial. Therefore, no violation of <u>Booth</u> occurred during the penalty phase either by prosecutorial comment or the evidence presented.

The alleged improper prosecutorial argument occurred during the guilt phase of the trial during the prosecutor's closing argument, and the record reflects that there was no objection to any of the alleged improper argument. (R 861, 881-882, 888-889). The only prosecutorial comments referred to by Smalley which even remotely relates to victim impact information condemned in Booth consisted of a reference to the victim and her relationship to her family and friends (R 888, 889). See, Preston v. State, 531 So.2d 154, 160 (Fla. 1988). Further, since there was no objection to any of these comments the point is procedurally barred. Id. at 160. Further, the prosecutorial comments made in Garron v. State, 13 F.L.W. 325 (Fla. May 19, 1988), relied upon by the appellant, occurred during the penalty phase as opposed to the quilt phase of the trial. In the instant case, the prosecutor's statements made during the guilt phase when viewed in the context of the entire trial, did not divert the jury's attention from its proper function during the penalty phase.

CONCLUSION

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